
MINUTES OF THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
August 25, 2008 

 
 
The regular meeting of the Zoning Board of Appeals was called to order by Chairman Mark Moore 
at 7:01 p.m. at the Village Hall. 
 
Members present:  Chairman Mark Moore, William Cotey, Kurt Hezner, Terry Howard, Howard 
Jaffe, and Andy Robinson. 
 
Members absent:  Walter Oakley 
 
A quorum was established. 
 
Village Staff present: John Spoden; Director of Community Development; David Smith, Senior 
Planner; and Pat Sheeran, Project Engineer. 
 
Board Member Cotey moved, seconded by Board Member Robinson, to approve the July 28, 2008, 
Zoning Board of Appeals meeting minutes, as amended. 
 
Motion carried 6 - 0. 
 
OLD BUSINESS: 
 
ZBA 07-47 Graham Enterprises, Inc., Applicant 

109 S. Milwaukee Avenue 
 

Request is for variations to: 1) increase the maximum allowed number of business signs 
from 2 to 16 in order to replace certain business signs and logos for a gas station and 
mini-mart; 2) increase the maximum allowed gross surface area for business signs from 
92.5 square feet to approximately 262.125 square feet in order to replace certain business 
signs and logos for a gas station and mini-mart; 3) reduce the minimum required setback 
for a free standing sign from 5 feet to approximately 1.5 feet in order to replace a 
freestanding sign on its existing base with an improved electronic price sign for a gas 
station, automatic car wash and mini-mart; and 4) increase the maximum permitted 
number of free standing business signs from 1 to 2 in order to replace a freestanding sign 
on its existing base with an improved electronic price sign and to replace an existing free 
standing car wash identity sign for a gas station, automatic car wash and mini-mart in a 
C-2 Downtown Community Commercial District. 

 
The applicant requested that this item be continued to the September 22, 2008, Zoning Board of 
Appeals meeting. 
 
In the matter of ZBA 07-47, Board Member Jaffe moved, seconded by Board Member Howard, to 
continue this item to the September 22, 2008, Zoning Board of Appeals meeting. 



Minutes of the August 25, 2008, Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting 
Page 2 of 4 
 
Motion carried 6 - 0. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
ZBA 08-21 1742 Milwaukee LV LLC, Applicant 
  1742-1768 N. Milwaukee Avenue 
 
 Request is for a variation to reduce the minimum required Perimeter Landscaped 

Open Space from 10 feet to approximately 6 feet in order to construct additional 
parking spaces in a C-3, General Commercial District. 

 
ZBA 08-22 1742 Milwaukee LV LLC, Applicant 
  1742-1768 N. Milwaukee Avenue 
 
 Request is for a variation to reduce the minimum required parking setback from the 

side yard property line from 10 feet to approximately 6 feet in order to construct 
additional parking spaces in a C -3, General Commercial District. 

 
Mr. David Smith, Senior Planner, stated that the petitioner is requesting approval of variations to 
reduce the minimum required Perimeter Landscaped Open Space and to reduce the minimum 
required parking setback from the side yard property line in order to construct additional parking 
spaces for the Adler Square shopping center located in a C -3, General Commercial District at 1742-
1768 N. Milwaukee Avenue. 
 
Mr. Terry Weppler, authorized agent for the petitioner, stated that any landscaping affected by the 
proposed improvements will be relocated or replaced.  He stated that the proposed improvements 
will provide additional employee parking. 
 
Board Member Cotey asked if one-way signs should be installed to help guide traffic circulation.  
Mr. Weppler stated that the one-way signs are shown on the site plan. 
 
Board Member Cotey stated that the existing perimeter landscaped open space along the south 
property line is currently in need of better maintenance. 
 
Ms. Joan Boden, property owner/petitioner, stated that there currently is not an irrigation system 
installed in the landscaped area behind her commercial center, but it does get watered. 
 
Board Member Cotey stated that the landscaped area does not get weeded very well either and it 
needs better maintenance. 
 



Minutes of the August 25, 2008, Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting 
Page 3 of 4 
 
Board Member Hezner asked who owns the property to the south of the Adler Square shopping 
center.  Mr. John Spoden, Director of Community Development, stated that it appears to be an 
unimproved public right of way. 
 
Mr. Weppler stated that he doesn’t know who owns it. 
 
Mr. Spoden stated if it is a parcel within the public realm, it would not be taxed. 
 
Board Member Hezner stated that the petitioner should not relocate dead trees, but that they should 
be replaced for those trees that are impacted by the proposed improvements.  He asked what the 
purpose of the retaining wall is which is shown on the plan that separates the proposed parking 
spaces and the perimeter landscaped open space.  Mr. Jim Meier, engineer for the petitioner, stated 
that the wall will reduce erosion and will vary in height from 1 foot to 3 feet. 
 
Board Member Howard asked for clarification on the parking count.  He asked how the subject site 
might accommodate a drive-thru.  Mr. Smith stated that the required number parking spaces will 
depend upon the use.  He stated that restaurants will require more parking than retail and retail will 
require more parking than office uses.   Mr. Smith stated that a drive-thru use will require a Special 
Use Permit. 
 
Mr. Weppler stated that the proposed improvements are intended to widen the service drive behind 
the building and to accommodate additional parking spaces. 
 
Board Member Robinson asked for clarification on the net outcome of the handicap parking spaces 
and if the outdoor seating for the existing restaurant will require more parking that provided.  Mr. 
Spoden stated that the Code currently does not address parking spaces for outdoor seating. 
 
Mr. Meier stated that the proposed outdoor seating will accommodate between 4 to 6 tables. 
 
Board Member Robinson asked why Staff recommended approval.  Mr. Spoden stated that it is 
appropriate to work out a solution to the parking need for the subject site.  He stated that there are no 
residences to the south to be impacted by the proposed improvements. 
 
Board Member Howard stated that he needs further clarification for the rationale for the positive 
recommendation. 
 
Mr. Spoden stated that the subject site, as well as the adjacent hotel, the adjacent Walgreens site, and 
the smaller commercial property with the Starbucks should have all been combined as a unified 
Planned Development.  He stated that as a Planned Development, the combined site plan could have 
been designed to better accommodate all the uses and facilities’ parking needs, however, each parcel 
of land has separate owners with separate development time tables. 
 



Minutes of the August 25, 2008, Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting 
Page 4 of 4 
 
Chairman Moore asked if the curbs were being re-worked in order to widen the lane and install 
parking spaces.  Mr. Meier stated that the existing curbs will be depressed in order to widen the 
service land and install the additional parallel parking spaces. 
 
Chairman Moore was concerned that parking in the service lane will continue and stated that no 
parking signs should be installed to prohibit illegal parking. 
 
In the matter of ZBA 08-21, Board Member Robinson moved, seconded by Board Member Cotey, to 
recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve a variation to reduce the minimum required 
Perimeter Landscaped Open Space from 10 feet to approximately 6 feet in order to construct 
additional parking spaces in a C-3, General Commercial District, in accordance with the plans 
submitted. 
 
Motion carried 6 - 0. 
 
In the matter of ZBA 08-22, Board Member Jaffe moved, seconded by Board Member Robinson, to 
recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve a variation to reduce the minimum required 
parking setback from the side yard property line from 10 feet to approximately 6 feet in order to 
construct additional parking spaces in a C -3, General Commercial District, in accordance with the 
plans submitted. 
 
Motion carried 6 - 0. 
 
COMMUNICATIONS AND DISCUSSION: 
 
Mr. John Spoden, Director of Community Development, stated the Village Board is reviewing 
Condell Medical Center’s final plan for their west tower expansion as part of the Master Plan 
process.  He stated that it will be on the Village Board agenda tomorrow. 
 
Board Member Hezner made a motion, seconded by Board Member Cotey, to adjourn the Zoning 
Board of Appeals meeting. 
 
Motion carried 6 - 0. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 7:30 p.m. 
 


